RECEIVED 07-01-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Court of Appeals case no.: 2014AP000220

v.

WALTER J. KUGLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, BRANCH 9, THE HONORABLE DONALD HASSIN, JR., PRESIDING

Andrew Mishlove, Esq.

State Bar Number: 01015053

MISHLOVE & STUCKERT, LLC 4425 N. Port Washington Road, Suite 110 Glendale, WI 53212 (414) 332-3499

Fax: (414) 332-4578

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 15, 2013, Walter Kugler (Kugler) had an encounter with Wisconsin State Patrol Trooper David Schmidt (Schmidt) that led to Kugler's arrest. Kugler was charged with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, in violation of Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a), (OWI); operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, in violation of Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(b), (PAC); and, refusal to submit to a chemical test, in violation of Wis. Stat. §343.305 (refusal). All three charges were alleged to be first offenses, and are, therefore, civil in nature.

Kugler filed a motion to suppress evidence derived from an unlawful arrest and unlawful detention, as well as a motion for suppression of defendant's blood test result based upon a warrantless blood draw.

On August 20, 2013, a hearing was held on the two motions to suppress evidence, which were both denied. On January 14, 2014, Kugler proceeded to trial by jury. The jury found Kugler guilty of OWI and PAC. The state moved for judgment on the OWI charge, and the PAC charge and the refusal charge were dismissed.

Kugler appeals the denial of the motion to suppress evidence derived from an unlawful detention and arrest, and the denial of the motion to suppress evidence derived from an unlawful warrantless blood draw.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Community Caretaker Breath Test and the Arrest

Walter Kugler is a native of Illinois. On December 15, 2013, he and a female companion traveled to Milwaukee to attend a professional basketball game, the Milwaukee Bucks versus the Los Angeles Clippers. After the game the couple planned to travel to Janesville, Wisconsin, but they didn't make it. (R: 20, pp. 5-6; p.7, ll. 11-13.)

While the record is silent, we can safely surmise that Kugler drove from the Bradley Center arena, home of the Milwaukee Bucks, on I94, missing the turn off for I894 to I43 south to Janesville. Thus, Kugler continued west out of Milwaukee County into Waukesha County on I94. At least, that is the simplest explanation for the facts of record.

Realizing that he was off-course, Kugler, pulled his van onto the the shoulder of the highway and activated his emergency flashers, so that he could safely find his bearings.

It was then that Kugler encountered Trooper Schmidt, who was on his way home, as his shift had just ended. (R: 20, p.4, l. 20). Schmidt driving a State Patrol squad car, pulled onto the shoulder behind Kugler's van and activated the squad's emergency lights. Schmidt was not suspicious of any offense at this time; but he was checking to see whether the motorist needed assistance. In other words, this was a classic community caretaker vehicle stop. (R: 20, p.7, l. 20).

Schmidt approached the van from the passenger side, and found himself face to face with the less than coherent female passenger. She identified herself and volunteered, in boozy breath, that they were on their way to Janesville but had gotten off course. (R: 20, p. 6, *passim*). Schmidt asked Kugler if he, too, had been drinking. Schmidt could not recall Kugler's answer; but, he, nevertheless, felt that it was a "deflection" of the question. Schmidt repeated the question, and Kugler stated that he had had one beer. (R: 20, p.7, 1.7). Schmidt ordered Kugler out of the vehicle. (R: 20, p.6, l. 21). Kugler identified himself and produced a driver's license and proof of insurance, without difficulty. R: 20, pp. 26-27).

Schmidt did not, at this point, claim to be investigating a drunken driving incident. Nor did he claim to have probable cause to administer a preliminary breath test. Although Kugler smelled of an alcoholic beverage, there was no other indication that Kugler was intoxicated (e.g., there was neither slurred speech nor bloodshot eyes). Rather, Schmidt claimed to be acting under his community caretaker authority, concerned for Kugler's welfare and the safety of the public. (R: 20, p. 7, passim).

Schmidt then instituted a novel procedure, that we call a community caretaker preliminary breath test. Schmidt asked Kugler to give a breath sample, prior to any field sobriety investigation. If Kugler gave a sample, he would not be arrested, no matter what the result of the breath test. Schmidt would have allowed Kugler to arrange a ride and have the car towed. On the other hand, if Kugler

refused to give an immediate preliminary breath sample, a drunken driving investigation would ensue, with Kugler's refusal to cooperate with the premature breath test would be considered as part of the totality of circumstances for further detention and arrest. (R: 20, pp. 7-8).

Kugler refused the premature preliminary breath test. Schmidt detained Kugler for a drunken driving investigation. Kugler was subsequently arrested. (R: 20, pp. 5-8).

The Warrantless, Forced Blood Draw

Kugler's encounter with Trooper Schmidt occurred shortly before 11:00 p.m., on December 15, 2012. (R: 20, p. 4, 1.20); and his blood was forcibly drawn in an ordinary time period following his arrest. (R: 20, p.19, 1.15).

As this case turns on the applicability of the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule, a chronology of the law is appropriate, at this point.

On January 17, 2012, the Missouri Supreme Court issued their decision in *State of Missouri v. McNeely*, 358 S.W.3d 65 (Mo. 2012). The Missouri court specifically rejected the state's position that (*inter alia*) a Wisconsin case, *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993), created a *per se* rule allowing forced, warrantless blood draws.

The State of Missouri filed a petition for a writ of certiorari, asking the United States Supreme Court to review the Missouri decision. On September 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court granted the petition for a writ of certiorari.

Kugler's arrest occurred on December 15, 2012, while the *McNeely* case was pending before the United States Supreme Court.

Schmidt ordered a warrantless, forced draw of Kugler's blood. In doing so, he relied on his understanding of the state of the law at the time. The record is a bit confusing:

Q: Was a blood draw done that evening?

A: Yes, it was.

Q: And why did you ask for a blood draw to be done when he had refused?

A: Based on Wisconsin case law, my understanding is that it isn't allowable on the offense of OWI to take the blood after the fact due to the exigent circumstance.

Further explaining, Schmidt testified:

A: Its not a department policy its based on caselaw.

(R: 20, p.40 l. 7).

A: Based on the training and experience that I had, the legal updates from AGA (*sic*) Dave Perlman who gives us our legal updates for the patrol.

(R: 20, p. 40, ll. 13-15).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Was the "community caretaker preliminary breath test" constitutionally reasonable?
 - a. The trial court answered, yes.
- 2. Was the Wisconsin case law on involuntary warrantless blood draws sufficiently well-settled, on December, 2012, that it provided a basis for a good faith exception to the exclusionary rule?
 - a. The trial court answered, yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant has no position on oral argument and publication.

We leave that to the sound discretion of the court.

We note, however, that the so-called "community caretaker breath test" is a novel issue, giving rise to significant sub-issues of constitutional jurisprudence. Also, the issue of the application of the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule, to cases that occurred while review of similar police conduct was pending before the United States Supreme Court, is one of importance; and it has not been previously addressed.

ARGUMENT

THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST WAS UNREASONABLE

There Was Not Probable Cause to Believe that Kugler Was Intoxicated

Preliminary breath tests are searches that are subject to the restrictions of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Association*, 489 U.S. 602 (1989). The standard for the permissibility of a preliminary breath test is well-known: whether there is probable cause to believe that the subject is impaired. *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999); and Wis. Stat. §343.303.

Renz, supra, clarified that the statutes require probable cause to believe: a middle level of probable cause, higher than mere reasonable suspicion, but less than probable cause to arrest.

In this case Schmidt, himself, did not claim to have probable cause to believe that Kugler was intoxicated. Rather, Schmidt claimed to have a community caretaker breath test procedure. Schmidt's rationale, of a community caretaker justification for the intrusive request for a breath sample, belies the lack of probable cause to believe that Kugler was impaired.

Nevertheless, the trial court considered the issue, as may this court. ¹

7

¹ The trial court held that there were "a bevy of indices" of intoxication, supporting a reasonable suspicion to detain Kugler for investigation,

There was no bad driving or operation of the vehicle, including its location. While the trial court considered the location sinister, the record contradicts that conclusion. In fact, Kugler behaved laudably in pulling to a safe spot to check his directions, rather than attempting to do it while his van was in motion. His emergency flashers were lit, suggesting mental coherence; and, he was lawfully parked. Certainly, there was a basis for Schmidt to check on Kugler's welfare, but little or nothing about Kugler's manner of operation and parking his vehicle was, in any way, indicative of impairment. Of course, that is why Schmidt did not suspect impairment when he first arrived on the scene.

Next, the fact that Kugler's passenger was, obviously, intoxicated is only the slightest clue. The constitution requires an individualized and particularized determination of probable cause. *Ybarra v. Illinois*, 445 U.S. 85 (1979). In *Ybarra*, police officers searched bar patrons, based on a tip that the bartender possessed and was selling heroin. The Supreme Court rejected the vicarious rationale for the search. Wisconsin recently addressed the issue in *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44.

Further, "to accommodate public and private interests some quantum of individualized suspicion is usually a prerequisite to a

independent of the request for the PBT. Here, we will consider the trial court's enumeration of those indices in the context of whether they support an inference of probable cause to believe that Kugler was intoxicated, thus justifying the request for the PBT. We will address the issue of whether Schmidt had an independent basis to detain Kugler herein, when we address whether the unlawful PBT request tainted the detention and arrest.

constitutional search or seizure." *United States v. Martinez-Fuerte*, 428 U.S. 543, 560 (1976). See also *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 699 n.9 (1981). Thus, circumstances must not be so general that they risk sweeping into valid law-enforcement concerns persons on whom the requisite individualized suspicion has not focused. *Bailey v. United States*, 568 U.S. ____, 133 S.Ct. 1031, 1039–1040 (2013) (Police may not detain persons leaving a building that was the target of a search warrant when those persons were "beyond the immediate vicinity of the premises to be searched.").

Gordon, supra, p.12.

The condition of Kugler's passenger could not be imputed to Kugler. Schmidt knew this; which is why he requested that Kugler get out of his van.

Schmidt placed great importance on Kugler's "deflection" of the question of whether he had been drinking. This may have been an indice worthy of consideration, but only if Schmidt was able testify to Kugler's statement. Despite repeated questioning, and attempts to refresh his recollection, Schmidt was unable to recall a single word in the statement that he concluded was a deflection. Schmidt's conclusion that Kugler "deflected" the question was unsupported, unless there was some evidence of the statement itself. Similarly, Schmidt's opinion was of no evidentiary weight; as, there was no evidence of the statement itself. The rules of evidence resolve this issue. Lay opinion testimony, is admissible under Wis. Stat. §907.01:

Opinion testimony by lay witnesses. If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness's testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are all of the following:

- (1) Rationally based on the perception of the witness.
- (2) Helpful to a clear understanding of the witness's testimony or the determination of a fact in issue.
- (3) Not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of a witness under s. 907.02 (1).

This statute was amended in 2011, to correspond to FRE 701. 2011 Wi. Act 2. The commentary to FRE 701, therefore, states:

The rule assumes that the natural characteristics of the adversary system will generally lead to an acceptable result, since the detailed account carries more conviction than the broad assertion, and a lawyer can be expected to display his witness to the best advantage. If he fails to do so, cross-examination and argument will point up the weakness. See Ladd, Expert Testimony, 5 Vand.L.Rev. 414, 415–417 (1952). If, despite these considerations, attempts are made to introduce meaningless assertions which amount to little more than choosing up sides, exclusion for lack of helpfulness is called for by the rule.

Thus, the commentators suggest that as a matter of evidentiary law, a court should not merely acquiesce to a witness who has "chosen sides."

Moreover, this issue goes beyond the fact that Schmidt's testimony about the statement is of no weight. A court has a duty to independently make findings of fact as to issues of probable cause. It is improper for a court to blithely accept a police officer's conclusory testimony or opinion evidence, in the absence of any factual support. The Constitution places a duty on the court to independently assess the facts. The issue was addressed by the Supreme Court in *Johnson v. United States*, 333 U.S. 10 (1948).

The point of the Fourth Amendment, which often is not grasped by zealous officers, is not that it denies law enforcement the support of the usual inferences which reasonable men draw from evidence. Its protection consists in requiring that those inferences be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime. Any assumption that evidence sufficient to support a magistrate's disinterested determination to issue a search warrant will justify the officers in making a search without a warrant would reduce the Amendment to a nullity and leave the people's homes secure only in the discretion of police officers.

Although Kugler smelled as though he had been drinking, there was no other evidence of impairment. Nothing suggests that Kugler's speech was slurred, slow and abnormal. Nothing suggests that Kugler's balance was abnormal. There was no evidence that Kugler's eyes were red or glassy.

The trial court enumerated a "bevy" of indices of impairment, upon which Schmidt's actions were based: The location of the van, the condition of the woman, Schmidt's opinion of Kugler's statement, and the odor of an intoxicant, possibly amounted to a reasonable suspicion to detain Kugler. They certainly did not amount to the requisite probable cause to believe that Kugler was impaired. The evidence suggests that Schmidt, of course, knew that, which is why he deigned to proceed as a community caretaker.

The "Catch and Release" Breath Test was Unreasonable

Schmidt, in an *ad hoc* procedure, created the "community caretaker breath test," where an OWI suspect who agrees to an intrusive search is thereby released, but he will be detained for investigation if he refuses. Schmidt claimed that this

"catch and release" preliminary breath test was routine in his practice; although, Schmidt admitted that it was not a matter of department procedure.

We believe the entire procedure to be unreasonable and coercive, on its face. The notion that a police officer may search a suspect, without probable cause, using the excuse that his subjective intention was to release him, is not only an unreasonable intrusion into the liberty of the subject, but also an abdication of the officer's duty to the community. Far from being a caretaker, the officer was a "community enabler."

The law of the community caretaker power is well-developed but still controversial. In *Cady v. Dumbrowski*, 413 U.S. 433 (1973), the United States Supreme Court first used the term "community caretaker." Dumbrowski had a single car accident near West Bend, Wisconsin. He was found by the police drunken and dazed in his damaged rental car, and thereafter arrested for drunken driving. The car was towed, and stored outside in an unsecure lot. When the police learned that Dumbrowski was also an off-duty policeman, they decided to search the car to secure his service revolver. They also, however, found the bloody remnants of a murder in the car. The Supreme Court held that the search was reasonable, even though it was done in the absence of a warrant or probable cause to search. The police were not, at that, time investigating any offense. They were acting as community caretakers, seeking only to secure a dangerous weapon, to prevent harm to the public.

Wisconsin has interpreted and expanded the community caretaker doctrine in a number of cases. There is, however, no authority that supports the Schmidt's unusual "catch and release" interpretation of the community caretaker authority.

Wisconsin considered the community caretaker doctrine in *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; and, *State v. Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346 (2010). This court looks at "the totality of the circumstances as they existed at the time of the police conduct." Under *Kramer* and *Pinkard*, the analysis of the community caretaker doctrine, for purposes of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, is the same as the analysis under the Wisconsin Constitution. The touchstone for all analyses under the community caretaker doctrine is constitutional reasonableness. In *Pinkard*, the court laid out a three-step test, with four relevant factors in deciding the third step, placing the burden of proof on the state:

- 1. Whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred;
- 2. If so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and
- 3. If so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.

In examining the third step, "we balance the public interest or need that is

furthered by the officers' conduct against the degree and nature of the intrusion on the citizen's constitutional interest." Four factors considered in this balancing test:

- 1. The degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation.
- 2. The attendant circumstances surrounding the search, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed.
- 3. Whether an automobile is involved.
- 4. The availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

An instructive unpublished case is *State v. Ultsch*, 2010 Wisc. App. Lexis 1048. In *Ultsch*, the defendant's damaged SUV was found near the roadway and near a long driveway. Having observed some damage to the vehicle and reasoning that an injured occupant may have gone to the nearby house, the police engaged in a community caretaker entry to the house. The court of appeals noted that the damage to the SUV, while significant, was not enough to infer that the occupant was injured. Hence, the community caretaker power could not be invoked. By contrast, in *State v. Gracia*, 2013 WI 15, the Wisconsin Supreme Court allowed a community caretaker entry into the defendant's bedroom, largely because of severe damage to the vehicle found outside the residence.

Similarly, the following cases all involve factors indicating a present need of assistance. None of these cases, however, support the "community caretaker preliminary breath test, and you'll get a ride home" procedure. *State v*.

Fitzgibbons, 2009 WI App 110, 320 Wis. 2d 704, 771 N.W.2d 929; State v. Reinwall, 2010 WI App 19, 323 Wis. 2d 279, 779 N.W.2d 725; State v. Rice, 2010 WI App 71, 325 Wis. 2d 401, 786 N.W.2d 489; and, State v. Toliver, 2011 WI App 27; 795 N.W.2d 493.

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