RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-31-2014**COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No.: 2014AP000220

WALTER J. KUGLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

An Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence entered by the Honorable Donald J Hassin, Jr., Circuit Judge, Branch 9, Waukesha County

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Timothy A. Suha
State Bar No. 1056437

Waukesha County District Attorney's Office
Waukesha County Courthouse
515 West Moreland Boulevard
Waukesha, Wisconsin 53188
(262) 548-7076

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

literally mean that an officer needs to solely be in a community caretaker role or solely in a law enforcement role. *Id.* \P 35. Rather, as long as the officer articulates "an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function, he has met" the community caretaker standard. *Id.* \P 36.

Therefore, the Court found in *Kramer* that the officer "had an objectively reasonable basis for deciding that a motorist may have been in need of assistance when he stopped behind Kramer's vehicle." *Id.* ¶ 37. Even though the officer's intentions changed when he started talking with the defendant, "[t]he objectively reasonable basis for [the officer] making contact with Kramer was totally divorced from his subjective belief that criminal activity could have been taking place." *Id.* ¶ 39. The Court concluded that the officer's contact with Kramer was a "bona fide community caretaker function that was totally divorced from his law enforcement function." *Id.*

The third prong of the community caretaker test requires balancing the public interest versus an individual's privacy and looks at four different factors to determine whether this prong is satisfied. The first of the four factors a court should consider when evaluating this prong is looking at the public interest and exigency of the situation. The Court found that there is a substantial public interest "in ensuring that police assist motorists who

may be stranded on the side of a highway, especially after dark and outside an urban area when help is not close at hand." *Id.* ¶ 42.

In regards to the second factor, reasonableness of the force and authority used, the Court found in *Kramer* that the officer could not have "display[ed] less overt authority." *Id.* ¶ 43. Even though the officer activated his emergency lights, he did so as a safety precaution "to let other drivers know that there were vehicles parked on the shoulder of the highway." *Id.*

The Court assessed the third factor, whether an automobile was involved, and found that the officer reasonably performed his community caretaker function when he walked up to the Kramer's car and asked if he needed assistance. *Id.* ¶ 44. Finally, the Court held in regard to the fourth factor, feasible alternatives, that the officer had no feasible and available alternative other than approaching the Kramer's vehicle and asking if he needed assistance. *Id.* ¶ 45. After considering all of the four factors iterated, the Court held that the officer reasonably performed his community caretaker function and satisfied the third prong of the three-part test. *Id.*

The Court concluded in *Kramer* that a seizure not supported by probable cause or reasonable suspicion occurred in this case, but also "that the officer's conduct fell within the scope of his community caretaker function." Id. ¶ 48.

C. When Trooper Schmidt pulled up behind Mr. Kugler's vehicle on the side of the road on I-94 and made initial contact with him, he was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker activity because he was trying to determine if Mr. Kugler needed assistance, and therefore his actions were totally divorced from a criminal investigation.

The first prong in the community caretaker standard is whether a seizure occurred. Similar to *Kramer*, a seizure occurred in Mr. Kugler's case when Trooper Schmidt activated his emergency lights and pulled up behind Mr. Kugler's legally-parked white van on the side of the road on I-94.

The second prong in the community caretaker standard is whether Trooper Schmidt was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker activity, and whether when he pulled up behind Mr. Kugler, his actions were totally divorced from a criminal investigation. As the Court found in *Kramer*, law enforcement officers do not know when they approach a vehicle on the side of the road in the middle of the night whether they will wear their law enforcement hat or their community caretaker hat. Trooper Schmidt testified at the motion hearing that he approached Mr. Kugler's vehicle to see if he needed assistance. (R.20, 24: 16-19.) Similar to what the Court found in *Kramer*, Trooper Schmidt also had an objectively reasonable basis for believing that Mr. Kugler may have needed assistance when he pulled up behind his van. It is clear that Trooper Schmidt felt that Mr. Kugler could have needed assistance as he was sitting on the side of I-94 in the

middle of the night with his hazard lights on. Further, the reason Trooper Schmidt stopped was because he thought a motorist needed assistance, not because he was believing that he would be investigating an OWI offense. As the Court held in *Kramer*, this Court should find that the second prong of the community caretaker test is satisfied and that Trooper Schmidt was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function totally divorced from his law enforcement function.

The third prong of the community caretaker standard is balancing the public interest versus an individual's privacy by using the four factors iterated by the Court in *Kramer*. Looking at the first factor, the public's interest, this Court should find that, like in *Kramer*, Trooper Schmidt and all patrol officers have a substantial public interest in assisting people like Mr. Kugler who are stranded on the side of a major highway in the middle of the night.

Looking at the second factor, reasonableness of the force used,

Trooper Schmidt used the least amount of force he could have used when
he pulled up behind Mr. Kugler's vehicle and activated his emergency
lights. Trooper Schmidt did not use his squad PA system to order Mr.

Kugler out of the vehicle, which would clearly demonstrate that Trooper
Schmidt was not just performing a community caretaking function. Similar
to the officer's reason in *Kramer*, Trooper Schmidt indicated during his
testimony that he activated his emergency lights to warn other motorists

about what was going on and for the safety of everyone on the scene. (R.20, 24: 23-25, 25: 1-4.)

The third factor when balancing the public's interest versus an individual's privacy is whether an automobile was involved. As in *Kramer*, Mr. Kugler's van was involved in the stop Trooper Schmidt performed. But also like in *Kramer*, it was reasonable for Trooper Schmidt to then approach that vehicle and determine if anyone needed assistance.

Looking at the fourth factor, whether there were other reasonable and feasible alternatives, there was no other safe way for Trooper Schmidt to determine if Mr. Kugler needed assistance other than going up to his vehicle and asking. For example, Trooper Schmidt did not have a cell phone number that he could have contacted Mr. Kugler at and ask him over the phone if he needed assistance. The only way for Trooper Schmidt to assist a motorist on the side of a highway in the middle of the night was to walk up to the vehicle and ask him.

In Mr. Kugler's case, first, a seizure clearly occurred when Trooper Schmidt pulled up behind Mr. Kugler's vehicle with his squad lights activated. Second, Trooper Schmidt's objectively believed that Mr. Kugler could have needed assistance as his vehicle was pulled over on the side of I-94 with its hazards on in the middle of the night. As Trooper Schmidt's testimony demonstrates, he engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function totally divorced from a criminal investigation for OWI. Last,

balancing the public's interest versus an individual's privacy, and assessing the appropriate factors indicated in *Kramer*, Trooper Schmidt was trying to assist a stranded motorist and did so in a way that was not overtly intrusive. Therefore, this Court, like the Court in *Kramer*, should find that the stop Trooper Schmidt performed on Mr. Kugler's vehicle was reasonable under the community caretaker standard and under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the U.S. and Wisconsin Constitutions.

II. TROOPER SCHMIDT HAD SUFFICIENT PROBABLE CAUSE TO REQUEST A PBT UNDER WIS. STAT. § 343.303.

Because the stop of Mr. Kugler's vehicle was reasonable, this Court needs to next determine whether Trooper Schmidt's request for a PBT was reasonable under Wis. Stat. § 343.303.

A. Standard of Review

An appeals court reviews the trial court's decision regarding probable cause to request a PBT *de novo*, while "accepting the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, ¶ 8, 344 Wis. 2d 483, 824 N.W.2d 871.

B. Relevant Law

Wisconsin Statutes Section 343.303 (2011–2012) allows a law enforcement officer to request a PBT if he or she has probable cause to believe that the suspect is operating while under the influence of an

intoxicant. In County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999), the Supreme Court of Wisconsin further explained what level of probable cause was necessary for a law enforcement officer to request a PBT. The Court identified nine different levels of probable cause, and stated that probable cause to request a PBT from a driver of a noncommercial vehicle is "a quantum of proof that is greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop, and greater than the 'reason to believe' necessary to request a PBT from a commercial driver, but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." Id. ¶ 51. The Court explained that the language of Wis. Stat. § 343.303 "confirms that [the Legislature] intended the PBT to function as a screening tool to be used prior to arrest" for an OWI. *Id.* ¶ 42. The Court reasoned that one of the purposes for Wis. Stat. § 343.303 was "[t]o provide maximum safety for all users of the highways of this state," and the PBT was a valuable tool to effectuate that purpose while law enforcement officers are investigating OWIs. *Id.* ¶ 46.

-

¹ From highest level of probable cause to the lowest level of probable cause:

^{1.} Probable Cause for Bind Over

^{2.} Probable Cause for a Criminal Complaint

^{3.} Probable Cause for an Arrest Warrant

^{4.} Probable Cause for a Warrantless Arrest

^{5.} Probable Cause for a Search Warrant

^{6.} Probable Cause for Driver's License Revocation

^{7.} Probable Cause for a request to do a PBT of a non-commercial driver

^{8.} Probable Cause for a request to do a PBT of a commercial driver

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals further explained in *State v. Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, ¶ 8, 344 Wis. 2d 483, 824 N.W.2d 871, that an officer can request a PBT when he or she "has a basis to justify an investigative stop but has not established probable cause to justify an arrest." Probable cause is a common-sense inquiry looking at "the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." *Id.* ¶ 9. In *Felton*, the officer iterated multiple different factors that made him believe Felton was operating under the influence including that the defendant (1) had glassy and bloodshot eyes; (2) smelled of alcohol; (3) admitted to drinking three beers; (4) sitting too long at one stop sign and going through another stop sign; and (5) had previous OWI convictions. Id. While Felton exhibited certain signs of intoxication, he still successfully completed the field sobriety tests. 2 Id. ¶¶ 4, 9. The Court reasoned that even though Felton "successfully completed all of the properly administered field-sobriety tests," it did not "subtract from the common-sense view that Felton may have had a blood-alcohol level that violated Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)." *Id.* ¶ 10.

Additionally, the Court noted that the officer "would have been fully justified in asking Felton to take a preliminary-breath test without even asking him to perform any field sobriety tests because they are not needed to establish probable cause to arrest someone for drunk driving, and, as [the

-

² The only field sobriety tests considered by the court were the one-leg-stand test and walk-and-turn test. *Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, \P 4. The Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test was disregarded by the trial court and the appeals court because it was not properly given. *Id.*

court had] seen, the probable-cause standard is lower for assessing the validity of giving a preliminary-breath test than it is for an arrest." *Id*. (internal citations omitted) (citing *Washburn County v. Smith*, 2008 WI 23, ¶ 33, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243) (citing *Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d at 316). The court concluded that the officer had sufficient probable cause to request Felton to submit to a PBT under Wis. Stat. § 343.303 given the totality of circumstances. *Id*. ¶ 10.

C. Looking at the facts found by the trial court with a common sense approach, Trooper Schmidt had the requisite probable cause to request a PBT from Mr. Kugler even though it was before field sobriety tests were administered.

This Court must accept the facts found by Judge Hassin unless they are clearly erroneous, but reviews Trooper Schmidt's request for the PBT *de novo*. As described in *Renz*, a PBT is a screening tool for law enforcement to determine whether someone should be arrested for operating while under the influence. Looking at the totality circumstances, and using a common sense approach, there were multiple factors that would satisfy the level of probable cause to request a PBT. First, Trooper Schmidt smelled an odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle, and when he separated Mr. Kugler from the passenger, he could still smell a strong odor of intoxicants. Second, Mr. Kugler initially deflects Trooper Schmidt's question of whether he was drinking, and then indicates he had one beer. Third, Trooper Schmidt finds out the Mr. Kugler is lost and is trying to get

to Janesville but is actually approximately 50 miles from his intended location.

Looking at these facts objectively with a common sense approach, it is reasonable to believe that Mr. Kugler is impaired by alcohol and that is the reason he is lost trying to get to Janesville in the middle of the night.

Like the court stated in *Felton*, completing field sobriety tests are not necessary before asking for a PBT.

While Trooper Schmidt indicated that he would have allowed Mr. Kugler to call for a ride and not be arrested for OWI if he submitted to the PBT, that does not negate the objective facts that he indicated to the trial court during his testimony. It is clear that Trooper Schmidt had concerns about Mr. Kugler driving because he thought he was impaired in some way. (See R.20, 7: 20-24; R-Ap. 7.) The fact that Trooper Schmidt's subjective intentions when requesting the PBT were not necessarily for the purposes of establishing probable cause to arrest Mr. Kugler for OWI, it does not take away from the facts found by the trial court that indicated a possible impairment due to alcohol. Mr. Kugler also does not cite to any case law in any jurisdiction that holds a court should only consider the subjective intentions of a law enforcement officer when determining whether the request for a PBT was reasonable. Trooper Schmidt's subjective intentions are not completely irrelevant, and do indicate that Trooper Schmidt did have concerns that Mr. Kugler was impaired. But this Court should not

solely rely on the subjective intentions of an officer and disregard the objective facts found by the trial court when deciding whether a PBT was reasonable.

It is also important to reiterate that Mr. Kugler refused to submit to the PBT in this case. "The right to appeal is limited to parties aggrieved in some appreciable manner by the judgment." *Koller v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co.*, 190 Wis. 2d 263, 266, 526 N.W.2d 799 (Ct. App. 1994). "A person is aggrieved if the judgment bears directly and injuriously upon his or her interest." *Id.* In Mr. Kugler's case he refused to submit to the PBT so cannot claim the issue on appeal because he was not aggrieved by the request of the PBT. Whether Trooper Schmidt had probable cause to request the PBT is immaterial because Mr. Kugler did not submit to it. Disregarding the refusal of the PBT, there were still sufficient facts to continue the OWI investigation because Mr. Kugler smelled of intoxicants, was lost trying to get to Janesville, and admitted drinking that night after first denying drinking.

Further, even if this Court assumes that Mr. Kugler is correct that the request for the PBT was unreasonable, the point is moot because there was still sufficient evidence to investigate Mr. Kugler for OWI including an odor of intoxicants, admitting to drinking after initially denying it, and being lost on his way to Janesville. Additionally, there was sufficient evidence demonstrating probable cause for Trooper Schmidt to arrest Mr.

Kugler for operating while under the influence without the refusal of the PBT, as will be discussed in the next section.

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